Supreme Ct. No. _____

Ct. App. No. 75406-8-I

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Christal Fields, an individual,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

State of Washington Department of Early Learning,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Newman Du Wors LLP
Keith Scully, WSBA # 28677
2101 Fourth Ave., Suite 1500
Seattle, WA 98121
(206) 274-2801

ACLU of Washington Foundation
Prachi Dave, WSBA #50498
901 5th Avenue, Suite 630
Seattle, WA 98164
(206) 624-2184

*Cooperating Attorney for ACLU of
Washington*

Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner Christal Fields

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV 1
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2017 SEP 20 PM 4:05

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND OPINION BELOW

Petitioner Christal Fields is an African-American woman who was convicted of attempted robbery nearly 30 years ago, has subsequently engaged in significant rehabilitation including graduating from the drug court program a decade ago, and has been successfully employed in the field of caregiving for elders and children for a decade. Despite having the support of her employer, the state Department of Early Learning (DEL) disqualified her from work in that field because her 1988 offense is on DEL's lifetime-ban list of disqualifying crimes. Having a conviction on that list is an automatic lifetime bar to working in childcare, and the process allows no individualized consideration of the nature of the offense, the amount of time elapsed since it, or subsequent rehabilitation and work experience reducing any risk to vulnerable persons. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), she asks this Court to accept review of the August 21, 2017 unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals which affirmed the revocation of her license.

Significant questions of constitutional law and issues of public importance are presented by this case. The constitutionality of lists of crimes like DEL's – a long list of convictions triggering an automatic lifetime ban from entire fields of employment – is a question of first impression in Washington, but the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has recently ruled that they violate Pennsylvania's constitution. The issue of whether the federal or Washington's Constitution also protects against

such lifetime bans is a significant question of constitutional law that should be resolved by this Court to provide guidance to DEL and agencies like it, and to grant Ms. Fields the relief the Constitution requires.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. **This Court accepts review if a case presents a significant question of law under the constitution of Washington or the United States. The constitutionality of lifetime bans on employment based on criminal history, without any consideration of individual circumstances, is a question of first impression under both constitutions. Should this Court accept review?**
- B. **This Court accepts review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. DEL's lifetime ban for certain offenses without consideration of individual circumstances has no rational relationship to child safety, and disproportionately affects women and people of color. Should this Court accept review?**

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. **Ms. Fields' individual circumstances are rendered irrelevant by DEL's lifetime ban and demonstrate the constitutional violation warranting review.**

Ms. Fields grew up in a dysfunctional family home. By the age of 14, she was living with her father and a succession of her father's sexual partners. (CP 66.) Drug abuse was rampant in the house. *Id.* At age 16, she found herself homeless, and turned to a series of male partners who gave Ms. Fields drugs and demanded she prostitute herself. *Id.* For years, she was lost to that world: she has a string of prostitution and drug arrests, with an occasional misdemeanor assault or property crime. *Id.* In one

isolated instance in 1988, she participated in an attempted robbery for which she has fully paid her debt to society.

King County's drug court program turned her life around. (CP 66.) She has been clean and sober since 2006, and maintains her sobriety and drug-free life by regular participation in NA. *Id.* She is successfully raising her 17-year-old son and assisting in the care of her grandson. *Id.* She has been gainfully employed—first as the caregiver for an elderly adult, and then in childcare—since 2006. *Id.*

She is committed to giving back to the community. As a series of letters from places she has worked and volunteered at demonstrate, she's deeply involved in working to make others' lives better. (CP 111–124.) She is a Narcotics Anonymous sponsor. (CP 66.) She is a counselor for chronically homeless persons. (CP 116.) And, as a letter from the Seattle Police notes, her work as a volunteer motivational speaker for the Department's Drug Market Initiatives program has helped the Department work to control drug trafficking. (CP 119.)

Ms. Fields loves working with children and has thrown herself into every possible training necessary to do her job well and safely. (CP 125–130.) She is well-liked and successful. (CP 111–124.) For example, Ms. Fields worked as a counselor in a harm-reduction facility for chronically homeless persons suffering from mental health issues, physical disabilities, and chronic chemical dependency. Her employer there said that she “ranks at the top in reference to sound ethics, professionalism, and de-escalation techniques.” (CP 116.) She is supported by her employer, a

Washington State-licensed childcare center. (CP 112-114.) Before DEL revoked her license, Ms. Fields worked successfully in childcare. *Id.*

Despite this ample evidence of rehabilitation and low current risk, DEL barred Ms. Fields for life from working in childcare based solely on the 1988 attempted-robbery conviction. The license disqualification process for certain prior offenses allows no consideration whatsoever of her individual circumstances; if the fact of conviction is not contested, the disqualification is automatic. Although the Legislature did not mandate that any crime be a ban to licensure, RCW 43.215.215(2), DEL adopted rules regarding child care licensure which include an expansive list of disqualifying offenses in WAC 170-06-0120. Fifty crimes, including all degrees of robbery and attempted robbery, carry a lifetime ban. *Id.* However, many crimes that carry a five-year ban directly target children and harm their welfare, while many crimes listed as a permanent ban do not. Under this list, a mob boss convicted of leading organized crime is free to work in child care after five years.

Ms. Fields challenged the lifetime exclusion from all employment licensed by DEL by exhausting her administrative remedies and timely sought review in King County Superior Court, which affirmed DEL's actions, rejecting her claim that the disqualification rule violated due process. On August 21, 2017, Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion. Ms. Fields timely petitions this Court for review.

IV. ARGUMENT

Two of the authorized grounds for review, a “significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States,” and “an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court,” support a grant of review here. RAP 13.4(b)(3-4).

- A. This Court should accept review because lifetime bans from state-licensed employment are an issue of first impression in Washington and present a significant question of law under the federal and state constitutions, and Pennsylvania has already found them unconstitutional.**

This Court reviews the constitutionality of a rule or the application of a rule de novo. *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn. 2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571, 574 (2006). Ms. Fields raises due process challenges, requiring her to demonstrate a constitutionally protected liberty interest. There can be no question that the right to pursue a chosen occupation is a constitutionally protected liberty and property interest. E.g., *Barry v. Barchi*, 443 U.S. 55, 64 n. 11 (1979) (licenses issued to horse trainers were protected by due process and equal protection); *Nguyen v. State, Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n*, 144 Wn. 2d 516, 519, 29 P.3d 689 (2001) (due process requires proof by clear and convincing evidence in a medical disciplinary proceeding); *Dittman v. California*, 191 F.3d 1020, 1029 (9th Cir.1999) (the pursuit of a profession or occupation is a protected liberty interest that extends across a broad range of lawful occupations); *Cornwell v. Cal. Bd. of Barbering & Cosmetology*, 962 F.Supp. 1260, 1271 (S.D. Cal.1997) (“[t]he right to hold specific private

employment and to follow a chosen profession free from unreasonable governmental interference comes within the “liberty” and “property” concepts” of the federal constitution).

Washington appears to have never evaluated the constitutionality of a lifetime ban from state-licensed employment based on prior criminal history in any context. But the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has squarely addressed the issue. In *Peake v. Com.*, No. 216 M.D. 2015, 2015 WL 9488235 (Pa. Commw. Ct. Dec. 30, 2015), the court held that a Pennsylvania regulation substantively identical to Washington’s was unconstitutional: *Peake* involved a lengthy list of crimes (including robbery and attempted robbery) that either prohibited working as a care provider for life or for ten years from the date of conviction. Applying Pennsylvania’s analogous constitutional protections, the court found that the regulation violated substantive due process.

The Court of Appeals in Ms. Fields’ case distinguished *Peake* only because the Pennsylvania constitution requires that constitutional challenges be analyzed “more closely” under the rational basis test than due process challenges under the United States Constitution. *Peake*, 132 A.3d at 518. But the Pennsylvania court still applied rational-basis review. This Court should follow Pennsylvania’s lead, based either on the federal constitution or the state constitution.

- B. Both procedural and substantive due process are violated by DEL's automatic, lifetime disqualification. There is no rational relationship between child safety now and an attempted robbery committed thirty years ago and DEL's ban prevents consideration of individualized circumstances and reduced risk through rehabilitation. This case presents a significant question of law because there is little guidance for agencies and lower courts for how to evaluate the constitutionality of DEL's 50-crime lifetime ban or similar lists.**

DEL's 50-crime list does not bear a rational relationship to public safety. For substantive due process claims, rational relationship scrutiny in the context of a public safety regulation like this one requires that DEL's rule must bear a "substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare." *Wedges/Ledges of California, Inc. v. City of Phoenix, Ariz.*, 24 F.3d 56, 65 (9th Cir. 1994). But beyond this broad principle, few cases are analogous to DEL's ban, and none address it squarely. DEL includes 50 crimes on its lifetime-ban list. Some—like rape of a child—have a facial connection to child welfare. Others—like Ms. Fields' attempted robbery—do not.

DEL has not included every crime in Washington on its lifetime-ban list. Instead, some other crimes are on DEL's five-year ban list, and yet others that appear to have a clear connection to safety, like DUI, do not appear at all. DEL conceded that including certain crimes would be arbitrary. But the rationality of the crimes included remains in doubt: DEL has included bail jumping and patronizing a prostitute on its either lifetime or five-year-ban lists. There are no guidelines in this court's jurisprudence or any other establishing which crimes—if any—can be included in a lifetime ban list. There is also no guidance for whether a lifetime ban,

imposed for a crime with no relationship to the purpose of the ban and with no possibility of redemption, is constitutional.

The Court of Appeals relied on a range of factually inapposite cases in deciding that DEL's rule is rationally related to protecting children. (Opinion at 6-16.) For example, the court relied heavily on *In re Kindschi*, 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958)(Opinion at 12.) But in *Kindschi*, a physician objected to a medical disciplinary board's finding that tax evasion was a crime of moral turpitude and subsequent disciplinary proceeding. The *Kindschi* court held that the disciplinary board properly relied on the Attorney General's opinion that, as a matter of law, tax evasion is a crime of moral turpitude.

Kindschi is inapposite. It did not involve the question presented here: whether it is constitutional for an agency to use a long list of crimes to impose a lifetime ban on employment in certain fields, without regard to individual circumstances. Although the *Kindschi* court did note in dicta that it found a rational relationship between tax evasion and medicine, *Kindschi* did not establish a test for how other crime-occupation relationships should be considered.

The existing cases provide no tests or guidance for the constitutionality of lifetime bans. Both DEL's rule—with its scattershot inclusion of some crimes but not others, with no clear basis for doing so—and the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter reflects that lack of guidance. The court found that DEL's rule is rationally related to protecting children. But the court concluded only that “a rational

connection exists between a violent crime conviction and the safety of children in childcare” without any explanation, and relied on tautology in place of analysis. (Opinion at 14.)

Federal jurisprudence, although not squarely on point to this case, demonstrates that DEL’s lifetime ban violates substantive due process. The state may, in the exercise of the police power, regulate businesses in order to promote the public welfare without offending substantive due process. *State ex rel. Faulk v. CSG Job Ctr.*, 117 Wn. 2d 493, 503, 816 P.2d 725 (1991). But the police power is not infinite; it is limited to regulations that genuinely protect health and safety. *Butchers' Union Slaughter-House & Live-Stock Landing Co. v. Crescent City Live-Stock Landing & Slaughter-House Co.*, 111 U.S. 746, 754–55, 4 S.Ct. 65228 L.Ed. 585 (1884).

Invoking safety is not a talisman to allow unlimited state regulation. For example, in *Cornwell*, 962 F. Supp. at 1260, the court denied a motion to dismiss a claim that California’s cosmetology regulations were unconstitutional, even though they contained health and safety training, because the 1600 required hours of training did not rationally achieve the safety objective. By contrast, courts have upheld state regulations when there is a demonstrable rationale for the specific regulations and its purported purpose. For example, in *Wedges/Ledges*, the 9th Circuit approved a temporary ban on a particular kind of arcade game because as many as 60 of the machines had been modified to allow illegal gambling and the municipality needed time to come up with safeguards to

protect against future illegality. *Wedges/Ledges*, 24 F.3d at 65. Similarly, in *Henderson*, the court found the denial of a banking permit did not violate substantive due process because the particular bank was in poor financial health and had not successfully implemented required management reforms. *Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Henderson*, 940 F.2d 465, 474 (9th Cir. 1991).

Unlike *Wedges/Ledges* and *Henderson*—where specific facts demonstrated a clear connection between the specific prohibition and the harm prevented—the required rational basis is lacking here. DEL’s list of crimes—most completely unrelated to children—lacks a rational connection to a person convicted not ever being able to safely work in childcare. On an as-applied level, the rational relationship to public safety is lacking, when Ms. Fields has a 30-year-old attempted robbery conviction followed by clear evidence of rehabilitation and a lifetime ban on working with children.

DEL’s lifetime disqualification also deprives individuals like Ms. Fields of their procedural due process rights guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions. Procedural due process requires that individuals receive notice of the deprivation and an opportunity to be heard to guard against erroneous deprivation. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). Further, the opportunity to be heard must be “at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner” appropriate to the case, and cannot be a mere formality. *Amunrud*, 158 Wn.2d at 216-17. Here, Ms. Fields had no meaningful hearing because she never had a

chance to address the central question of importance: whether her 1988 robbery conviction means she cannot safely work in childcare despite the evidence demonstrating the reduced risk based on rehabilitation, passage of time, and aptitude for that work.

Mathews provides the three-factor test employed to determine the constitutionality of a hearing. The factors to be considered are (1) the nature of the potentially affected individual interest at stake; (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest through the challenged procedures, and probable value of additional procedural safeguards; and (3) the government's interest, including the potential burden of additional procedures. *City of Bellevue v. Lee*, 166 Wn. 2d 581, 585 (2009). And indeed, when applied, the *Mathews* factors argue in favor of affording Ms. Fields an opportunity for the hearing she requests.

The interest affected is Ms. Fields' constitutionally protected liberty and property interest in pursuing her chosen profession, and the risk of erroneous deprivation here is extreme. Without the ability to do any more than contest the mere existence of the attempted robbery conviction, Ms. Fields is left without any avenue to demonstrate her qualifications and dedication to working in childcare and the lack of any safety risk. The constitutional deficiency in DEL's lifetime ban process demonstrates the significance of the legal question here and merits this court's review, without which the severe harm resulting from the agency's unconstitutional actions will be left unchecked by the judiciary.

C. Automatic lifetime disqualification from working in childcare is an issue of substantial public importance because it militates against Washington's firm public policy in support of rehabilitation and reentry into society.

Washington has thousands of former felons. Many are on the road to rehabilitation or are already there. Our legislature has recognized that one of the cornerstones of rehabilitation is meaningful employment. But ever-growing laundry-lists of crimes that preclude access to licensure mean that many Washingtonians are simply barred from putting their criminal histories behind them, even when they have served and complied with their sentences.

Christal Fields has gone above and beyond in demonstrating her own rehabilitation. She was convicted of attempted robbery in 1988—almost thirty years ago—during a period of time when she was a homeless domestic violence victim addicted to drugs. Her crime involved grabbing a woman's purse and trying unsuccessfully to run away with it.

Since her conviction, she has paid her debt to society, done prison time and has now completely turned her life around. And yet she cannot get a job doing what she loves and is demonstrably good at, including being demonstrably not a threat to child safety. DEL has chosen to implement a lifetime ban on anyone with a conviction on a list of 50 crimes—no matter how long ago, no matter the circumstances, no matter how life has turned out for the applicant and, importantly, no matter how unrelated to the welfare of children the crime is. Some of these crimes, like rape of a child, bear a relationship to child welfare. But many, like

Ms. Fields' 30-year-old attempted robbery in the second-degree conviction, do not.

The lifetime ban instituted by DEL is also contrary to Washington's stated re-entry goals:

The legislature declares that it is the policy of the state of Washington to encourage and contribute to the rehabilitation of felons and to assist them in the assumption of the responsibilities of citizenship, and the opportunity to secure employment or to pursue, practice or engage in a meaningful and profitable trade, occupation, vocation, profession or business is an essential ingredient to rehabilitation and the assumption of the responsibilities of citizenship.

RCW 9.96A.010. Instead of contributing to her rehabilitation, the list of lifetime-ban crimes that excludes Ms. Fields from pursuing an occupation categorically prevents her from obtaining the exact employment that the state of Washington considers to be an "essential ingredient" to rehabilitation.

D. This petition also presents an issue of substantial public importance because lifetime bans disproportionately affect women and persons of color without achieving a rational benefit to the public.

Between 1990 and 2016 alone, Washington entered 16,325 robbery sentences.¹ People of color are disproportionately impacted.² The disproportionality is so pronounced that the EEOC has warned that denying employment to persons with criminal convictions

¹ <http://wa-state-ofm.us/crimestatsonline/index.cfm>.

² EEOC Enforcement Guidance No. 915. 002 on the Consideration of Arrest and Conviction Records in Employment Decisions Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (2012).

may constitute an equal-protection violation. *Id.* Further, childcare workers are predominantly women. For women, especially without advanced degrees, losing access to childcare jobs deprives them of significant employment opportunities. In addition to the due process violations at issue here, the harmful effects of perpetuating race and gender discrimination through the lifetime ban list warrants a grant of review.

E. This Court should determine whether Washington's constitution provides a basis for due process and equal protection claims in this context.

This Court should determine whether the application of DEL's 50-crime list in this case, with individualized consideration barred, violates either article 1, section 3 (due process) or article 1, section 12 (equal protection) of the Washington Constitution. In evaluating the scope of protection, the Court should consider the six *Gunwall* factors. *Madison v. State*, 161 Wn.2d 85, 94, 163 P.3d 757 (2007).³ These factors argue strongly in favor of a finding that there is a constitutional violation here.

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