NO. 95024-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTAL FIELDS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF EARLY LEARNING

Respondent.

DEL ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PATRICIA L. ALLEN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27109 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7405 OID #91016

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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. There Is No Viable Constitutional Claim Warranting Review In This Case.

Ms. Fields claims that this Court should review the findings of Division I in her case under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because: (1) the constitutionality of a regulation like WAC 170-06-0120 has not been considered by this Court before; (2) another state has disapproved of a similar regulation under its own constitution; and (3) state agencies and courts need guidance on applying constitutional principles to WACX 170-06-0120(1). PFR at 5-7. None of these arguments show that this case presents a significant question of constitutional law warranting review by this Court.

1. The Due Process Claims Argued By Ms. Fields Were Rejected By The Court Of Appeals Based On Well-Established Norms Of Due Process Analysis.

As the Court of Appeals' decision here demonstrates, the application of due process principles to WAC 170-06-0120 is neither difficult nor

surprising. Slip Op. at 6-16. The procedural due process arguments made in this case are hollow at best and require little analysis. Slip Op. at 16; PFR at 10-11. Regarding substantive due process, the opinion issued August 21, 2017, clearly explains how well understood principles of rational basis review led to the decision to affirm Ms. Fields' disqualification. Slip Op. at 6-15. Due process is not a winning argument for appellant, and provides no reason for this Court to review the matter.

a. Ms. Fields' Procedural Due Process Claim Is Nothing More Than A Substantive Complaint In Disguise, And Does Not Present A Legal Question For Review By This Court.

Despite her continued pursuit of this issue, procedural due process is not a fit for Ms. Fields' complaints about WAC 170-06-0120(1). Disqualification under this regulation always provides an avenue for appeal, with the scope of that appeal depending on the facts and law applicable to the case at hand. WAC 170-06-0090; WAC 170-06-0100. Had her case been one which could withstand summary judgment, Ms. Fields would have been able to be present with counsel before a neutral decision-maker, present evidence and witnesses, cross examine opposing witnesses, give argument, receive a written decision, and seek further review if aggrieved. WAC 170-03-0340 through -0620.

In her PFR, Ms. Fields devotes little more than a page of argument to the procedural due process issue. PFR at 10-11. Her presumption that a "meaningful hearing" equates to a full hearing on whatever information a complainant would like to bring before the tribunal is unsupported by the case law. As explained by the seminal case of *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976), the purpose of employing balancing factors and assessing a procedure is to determine whether further safeguards are required to increase the certainty in the fact finding outcome, given the importance of the interests at stake.

Here, there is no risk of error at all. Ms. Fields has admitted that the conviction of interest is hers, and thus the fact of interest to the proceeding may be relied upon with confidence. PFR at 1. No procedural change is necessary to assist in determining the truth in this case, and the full panoply of protections provided at the Office of Administrative Hearings ensures that cases with disputed facts are handled with ample procedural due process. WAC 170-03-0340 through -0620. There is no reason for this Court to grant review on Ms. Fields' procedural due process claim.

b. Rational Basis Review Was Appropriately Utilized In The Decision Below To Uphold The Constitutionality Of WAC 170-06-0120(1).

DEL has a mandate to regulate child care agencies and ensure the safety of both facilities and the employees in those agencies. RCW

43.215.200. As a part of that mandate, and in furtherance of child safety, DEL developed WAC 170-06-0120 to clearly identify criminal convictions which would result in either 5 year or permanent disqualification of an applicant for child care work. Wash. St. Reg. 08-08-101.

Although Ms. Fields has accepted in her briefing that rational basis review applies to any constitutional challenge of an economic regulation such as this one, she continues to seek to broaden the definition of rational basis review. PFR at 7-8. Contrary to Ms. Fields' contentions, rational basis review as applied by the Court of Appeals in this case sufficiently addresses her limited liberty interest in general employment.³ This Court should not accept review.

Rational basis review requires no more than a rational connection between the legal requirement and a legitimate state interest. *Amunrud v. Board of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571 (2006). The interest here is the admittedly important one of child safety, and the rational connection with criminal activity deemed by the legislature to be "crime against children or persons" in RCW 43.43.830(7) is obvious. Ms. Fields'

³ Ms. Fields' continued insistence that Washington courts should follow the lead of *Peake v. Commonwealth*, 132 A.3d 506 (2015), a case which uses Pennsylvania's constitution to apply a more rigorous form of rational basis review, is inappropriate. The Court of Appeals rightly focused on the U.S. Constitution, upon which Ms. Fields' claims have rested throughout. The *Peake* case does not raise an issue for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

argument concedes as much when she says that some crimes on the DEL list "have a facial connection to child welfare." PFR at 7. Ms. Fields' mistake is in arguing that rational basis review allows a court to pick and choose which parts of a regulation are most likely to advance the government's identified interest. To the contrary:

When reviewing the substance of legislation or governmental action that does not impinge on fundamental rights, moreover, we do not require that the government's action actually advance its stated purposes, but merely look to see whether the government could have had a legitimate reason for acting as it did.

Wedges/Ledges of California, Inc. v. City of Phoenix, Ariz., 24 F.3d 56, 65 (9th Cir. 1994).

DEL need not prove that child safety is actually advanced by excluding Ms. Fields or any other particular person with a crime listed in WAC 170-06-0120. *Amunrud*, 158 Wn.2d at 224-225; *Wedges/Ledges* 24 F.3d at 65. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the high burden for showing a regulation unconstitutional was not met here, and this Court should not further review the issue.

2. Ms. Fields' Belated Attempt To Inject Arguments Under The Washington Constitution Should Not Form The Basis For Review.

Ms. Fields' claims under the Washington Constitution should not be considered because this Court generally does not review issues that were

not presented to the court of appeals. *Peoples Nat. Bank of Wash. v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973). Even now, her legal argument is scanty and does little more than mention the concepts of due process and equal protection under the Washington Constitution, with no *Gunwall* analysis for any of her arguments. PFR at 14-15. Because she provides no analysis to support her claims, this Court should decline to review them. *Bryant v. Palmer Cooking Coal Co.*, 86 Wn. App. 204, 216, 936 P.2d 1163 (1997).

3. Ms. Fields' Lack Of Gunwall Analysis Limits Her To Federal Due Process Analysis.

Washington courts have often used the federal standard in analyzing due process claims and have often held that the state constitution provides no higher level of protection in the area of due process. *State v. Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d 652, 679, 921 P.2d 473(1996); *City of Bremerton v. Widell*, 146 Wn.2d 561, 579, 51 P.3d 733 (2002). More recently, this Court has indicated that while the language of the state and federal constitutions is nearly identical in the area of due process, independent analysis can be undertaken with proper presentation of the Gunwall factors for analysis. *Bellevue Sch. Dist. V. E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 710-11, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). Here, Ms. Fields dismissed the importance of that analysis, which would be too tardy for review even if she attempted it for the first time at this level.

PFR at 14-15. Thus, Ms. Fields is limited to her due process claims under the U.S. Constitution. Because the Court of Appeals amply and correctly determined that those constitutional claims lacked merit, Ms. Fields should not be granted review based on any due process claims, whether under the state or federal standard.

4. Appellant May Not Pursue A Last-Minute Equal Protection Claim Under Either The State Or Federal Constitution.

As has been noted above, claims that are not raised at the Court of Appeals should not be addressed for the first time through a PFR to this Court. *Peoples Nat. Bank*, 82 Wn.2d at 830. Ms. Fields has had a full and fair opportunity to develop her case over a matter of years, yet never claimed an equal protection issue until her attempt at a fifth level of review. *See* AR 10-11, AR 112-121, AR 143-145, AR 158; Opening Brief of Appellant Christal Fields; Reply Brief of Appellant Christal Fields (Reply Brief); Slip. Op. at 5-6; PFR at 2, 14-15. This court should decline her invitation, which is brief and not supported by legal analysis, to review this tardy claim.

5. An Alleged Need To Clarify Basic Due Process Principles Does Not Warrant Review By This Court.

Ms. Fields argues that this Court must accept review to provide "guidance for agencies and lower courts for how to evaluate the

constitutionality of DEL's 50-crime lifetime ban or similar lists." PFR at 7. This argument assumes that because the exact situation of DEL's list has not been litigated to this Court before, other judicial bodies and agencies are at a loss as to how to deal with it. This is not persuasive, given that the principles of due process are flexible precisely to apply to different fact patterns, as the Court of Appeals did without difficulty in the unpublished decision below.

The Court of Appeals properly read the case law and statutory scheme in rejecting appellant's arguments that her disqualification through WAC 170-06-0120 was contrary to the principles of due process. Had the opposite conclusion been reached, resulting in potentially hundreds of disqualifications made over the years becoming void regardless of the conduct prompting those disqualifications, review would be important to address a serious issue of safety for children and the public. As it stands, nothing presented in this case justifies review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because there is no confusing or new issue of law to be addressed. Review should be denied and the unpublished decision by the Court of Appeals should remain the final word on this case.

B. Proper Deference By The Court Of Appeals On Public Policy Is Not A Matter Of Substantial Public Interest.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) allows review "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Ms. Fields has not produced an issue of substantial public interest in this case. To the contrary, Ms. Fields' case is a matter in which the judiciary has wisely deferred to the legislature due to that body's traditional strengths of being able to gather public comment and shape policy through debate and amendment over time. "The legislature, not this court, is in the best position to assess policy considerations." Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 109, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). See also Sedlacek v. Hillis, 145 Wn.2d 379, 390, 36 P.3d 1014 (2001) ("An argument for the adoption of a previously unrecognized public policy under Washington law is better addressed to the Legislature. . . . [W]e should not create public policy but instead recognize only clearly existing public policy under Washington law."); City of Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 592, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996) ("If the regulation tends to promote public safety, health, morals or welfare, then its wisdom or necessity is a matter left exclusively to the legislative body") (applying principle to a municipal regulation).

The delegated legislative authority under which WAC 170-06-0120 was adopted encompasses a traditional area of state regulation: safety for a vulnerable population. *See* RCW 43.215.005(4)(c). The unpublished decision finding this regulation to be within the authority of lawmakers, in

keeping with this Court's jurisprudence, is not a matter of public import justifying review.

Ms. Fields argues that the Court of Appeals decision raises issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) based largely on her own particular situation. She asserts that she should have been able to demonstrate rehabilitation rather than being automatically disqualified for a felony conviction because she feels she is now individually fit to work in child care. PFR at 1-4, 12-13. Ms. Fields' personal outcome does not and should not dictate interpretation by the courts of a constitutional regulation of an economic interest in particular employment especially when the regulation is based on child safety. Review by this Court should be declined.

To the extent that Ms. Fields relies upon the situation of women and minorities in this state to argue that WAC 170-06-0120(1) should be overturned as against the policy of rehabilitation, she demonstrates just how far she is asking this Court to intrude into the province of a co-equal branch of state government. PFR at 12-13. Ms. Fields' use of statistics and legislative declarations is just the sort of evidence that the legislature may consider in deciding whether to legislate in the area of clearing child care workers and thereby alter DEL's clearance requirements; something that has not happened in the 11 years that DEL has used WAC 170-06-0120.

Further, Ms. Fields' argument refuses to acknowledge that, for all the legislative movement in the area of rehabilitation, the legislature has clearly voiced its current view on the particular crime she committed. Robbery 2 is classified by statute as a "violent offense," and one that cannot be vacated as other crimes, even other felonies, can be. *See* RCW 9.94A.640(2)(b) and RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(xi). Further, the legislature has spoken particularly to this crime as one which is a danger to children, naming it in RCW 43.43.830(7) as a "Crime against children or other persons."

The redemptive movement which Ms. Fields invites this Court to join by crossing over into policymaking has not reached the crime at issue here. It is for the legislature to decide if this crime will at some point be a candidate for rehabilitation programs. This Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on the basis of a misplaced invitation to this Court to move beyond the judicial sphere.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Appellant has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals decision in case presents a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by the Supreme Court. The Respondent respectfully requests that the Court deny Ms. Fields' Petition for Review.